ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Certiorari to Sumter County

SEP 18 2017

Honorable George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

BERNARD MCFADDEN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002319

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR court correctly grant Petitioner a belated appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where the undisputed evidence showed trial counsel failed to file and serve a timely notice of appeal following Petitioner's trial?

- II. Whether the PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel failed to object and argue on the record that Petitioner's prior conviction was more prejudicial than probative and therefore should have been excluded so that Petitioner could take the stand in his own defense?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted for burglary in the second degree by a Sumter County Grand Jury during the February 18, 2010 term of court. App. 716. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable W. Jeffrey Young and a jury on November 16, 2010. App. 1. R. Kirk Griffin represented the State, and Willie Brunson represented Petitioner.

Following a four-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 458 l. 23 – App. 459 l. 6. Judge Young sentenced Petitioner to a period of fifteen years' imprisonment. App. 468 ll. 1 – 9. An allegedly untimely notice of appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf on December 15, 2010. An Order of Dismissal was entered on December 31, 2010 for failure of Appellant to serve a timely Notice of Appeal on opposing counsel.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on or about October 20, 2011. App. 470. The State filed its Return on or about May 11, 2012. App. 509. An evidentiary hearing was conducted on April 16, 2013 before the Honorable George C. James, Jr. App. 515. Daniel F. Gourley represented the State, and Petitioner represented himself. Petitioner and trial counsel testified during the hearing.

On October 11, 2016, Judge James issued an order granting Petitioner's request for a belated direct appeal under White v. State¹ but denied the remainder of his allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel in the case. App. 658. He ruled that Petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel were meritless and should be dismissed. App. 661.

Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration on November 2, 2016. App. 672. An Order denying the Motion was issued on November 4, 2016. App. 675.

¹ 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

Petitioner now files this petition simultaneously with a brief addressing the direct appeal issues, as required by Rule 243, SCACR.

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court correctly granted Petitioner a belated appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where the undisputed evidence showed trial counsel failed to file and serve a timely notice of appeal following Petitioner’s trial.**

Petitioner never waived his right to appeal, as conceded by trial counsel during the PCR hearing. App. 535 ll. 12 – 14. The PCR court found Petitioner’s testimony “that he told Trial Counsel he wanted to file an appeal” to be credible, “especially in light of the fact that Trial Counsel did file a notice of appeal, *albeit* too late.” App. 670 (emphasis in original). Citing Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 1036, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000), the PCR court noted the constitutional requirement that counsel consult with a defendant about an appeal “when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonable demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” Therefore, under White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 109 S.E.2d 35 (1974), the PCR court correctly granted Petitioner leave to file a belated appeal.

“The appropriate scope of review of this Court is that any evidence of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge’s findings.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). When a client is convicted and sentenced, trial counsel has a duty to make certain the client is fully aware of the right to appeal. In re Anonymous Member of the Bar, 303 S.C. 306, 400 S.E.2d 483 (1991); White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). “In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must

either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).” Smith v. State, 309 S.C. 413, 424 S.E.2d 480 (1992).

The PCR judge’s ruling is supported by Petitioner’s claim that he asked his attorney to file an appeal. Trial counsel did not file a timely appeal. As Judge James found there was no evidence of an intelligent and voluntary waiver of his right to an appeal. Therefore, this evidence supports the PCR judge’s conclusion that Petitioner is entitled to a belated appeal pursuant to White, supra. At the PCR hearing, trial counsel claimed Judge Young advised Petitioner of his right to appeal:

The judge did [advise him]. In fact when - - when the judge delivered the sentence in open court, he of course advised him of his right to appeal. Mr. McFadden never told me that he wanted to appeal, and he was taken out of the courtroom. After that, there was some discussion regarding Mr. McFadden writing or contacting the court reporter directly.

App. 623 ll. 14 – 20.

This conversation took place off the record. App. 623 l. 23.

There is no doubt that “[f]ollowing a trial, counsel is required to make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal.” Turner v. State, 380 S.C. 223, 224, 670 S.E.2d 373, 374 (2008). Further, “[i]n the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant counsel *must* either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).” Id. (emphasis added). “To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the appeal.” Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 271, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739-740 (2010). The United States Supreme Court has “long held that a lawyer who disregards specific instructions from the defendant to file a notice of appeal acts in a manner professionally unreasonable.” Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 477 (2000). There is no doubt “that counsel had a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is

reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonable demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appeal.” Id. at 480.

The PCR judge’s ruling is supported by Petitioner’s allegations that trial counsel failed to file a timely notice of appeal. Further, the judge’s ruling is supported by trial counsel’s admission that only the judge advised Petitioner of his right to appeal. Trial counsel failed in his duty to ensure Petitioner was aware of his right to appeal following the trial.

In fact, trial counsel never indicated that he spoke with Petitioner after sentencing. See Clark v. State, 396 S.C. 164, 719 S.E.2d 708, (Ct. App. 2011) (noting that where defense counsel testified that he never spoke to the defendant at the end of the trial, the testimony demonstrated “that trial counsel could not have ascertained whether [the defendant] wanted to appeal his conviction”). The record is clear that trial counsel failed in his duty to file a timely notice of appeal in the absence of Petitioner’s intelligent waiver. As Judge James found, there was no evidence of an intelligent and voluntary waiver of his right to an appeal. Therefore, this evidence supports the PCR judge’s conclusion that Petitioner is entitled to a belated appeal pursuant to White, supra. Petitioner respectfully requests this Court affirm the PCR judge’s decision and grant belated review of his direct appeal issue.

II. The PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel failed to object and argue on the record that Petitioner’s prior conviction was more prejudicial than probative and therefore should have been excluded so that Petitioner could take the stand in his own defense.

Following the close of the state’s case-in-chief, counsel indicated that Petitioner wanted to testify at his trial. App. 369 ll. 14 – 17. However, that decision changed once the trial court ruled that the prior conviction would be admissible.

Petitioner was incarcerated for a prior burglary conviction and released in December 2000. App. 372 ll. 14 – 22. Therefore, it was the trial court’s position that the prior conviction would be admissible. App. 373 ll. 14 – 24. The trial court’s ruling was as follows:

It is my ruling that the prior burglaries, and is probably a 5-part test. The impeachment value of these prior crimes is high. And the state quite frankly is within the 10 years. And granted it is similar to this charge. And I will charge the jury that he is only on trial for this charge. Is my understanding. And again, I think that will go do the credibility issue as well.

App. 379 ll. 4 – 11.

Based on the fact that his prior conviction was admissible, Petitioner elected not to testify. App. 404 l. 23 – App. 405 l. 3. However, as trial counsel noted during the PCR hearing, “the solicitor never made the argument that the probative value [of Petitioner’s prior conviction] exceeded the prejudicial effect” and “the judge never did the balancing test on the record.” App. 626 ll. 18 – 22. In fact, counsel admitted he should have objected on the record. App. 627 l. 6. Further, he conceded that he “probably should have had the argument that [was] had in chambers again on the record to preserve the issue.” App. 627 ll. 7 – 10.

Petitioner’s 2010 trial on the burglary charge was his second jury trial for that charge—the first ended with a hung jury. App. 628 ll. 6 – 22. Counsel posited that he did not move to exclude the prior conviction because he “agreed with [Petitioner’s] opinion to not testify.” App. 648 l. 12 – App. 649 l. 4. However, Petitioner decided not to testify based on the trial judge’s ruling that the prior conviction would come in. App. 649 l. 19 – 25. Counsel admitted that he should have done things differently:

I admit that I should have put the argument on the record. And that the judge ruled, and I should have objected again. Yes, I admit that. I should have objected again.

App. 652 ll. 7 – 11.

Petitioner correctly asserted that Counsel was ineffective, because he did not argue on the record that Petitioner's prior conviction should be inadmissible due to its highly prejudicial nature. Had counsel argued on Petitioner's behalf instead of leaving Petitioner to make legal arguments on his own behalf, the prior conviction could have been excluded. Had counsel explored the credit for time served issue, the prior conviction could have been excluded.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has created a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel by which a PCR applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Id. at 687. “[T]he court should keep in mind that counsel’s function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case.” Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (quoting Strickland at 690).

First, to be entitled to PCR, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Payne v. State, 355 S.C. 642, 645, 586 S.E.2d 857, 859 (2003) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). In this regard, counsel failed to object on the record to the mention of Petitioner's prior conviction should Petitioner elect to testify. In fact, this was the sole reason Petitioner elected not to testify. Had counsel contested the issue and perhaps been successful, Petitioner would have testified in his own defense. As evidenced by the hung jury in Petitioner's first trial, this may have had an effect on the outcome of his case.

“The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). The prejudice in his case manifested itself in Petitioner’s 2010 conviction, which could have been avoided if counsel had sought to prevent the mention of Petitioner’s prior conviction. Petitioner did not testify in his own defense. Had he done so, there is a reasonable probability that he could have swayed at least one juror, preventing a conviction.

Petitioner never received credit for the four months’ time served on the prior conviction. App. 372 ll. 23 – 25. Had he received that credit, he likely would have been released in September 2000, which would have meant that any evidence of the prior conviction would be inadmissible. However, counsel did not press this issue. Similarly, trial counsel also admitted that he should have objected to the admission of DNA evidence, but elected not to because Petitioner was not going to testify. App. 648 ll. 2 – 11. Trial counsel did not diligently pursue these matters because he had resigned himself to the fact that Petitioner was not going to testify, even though counsel was aware Petitioner wanted to testify.

Petitioner would have testified had his prior convictions not been allowed in. However, this matter was not contested by anyone other than Petitioner, leaving Petitioner with ineffective assistance of counsel.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court affirm the PCR court's decision that he is entitled to a belated direct appeal. Petitioner likewise requests that this Court grant his petition for writ of certiorari and allow full briefing on this issue, reverse the charges against him, and remand the case for a new trial.



Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER