STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

FEB 07 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Sumter County  
George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002319  
\_\_\_\_\_

BERNARD MCFADDEN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bernard McFadden ("Petitioner") is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Sumter County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was true bill indicted at the February 2010 term of the Sumter County Grand Jury for second degree burglary (violent) (2010-GS-43-0257). Petitioner was represented by Willie Brunson, Esquire. Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable W. Jeffrey Young. Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. On November 19, 2010, Judge Young sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years' imprisonment.

A notice of appeal was filed December 15, 2010. The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an Order of Dismissal on December 31, 2010 for failure to timely serve Notice of Appeal on Opposing Counsel. The remittitur was sent on February 7, 2011.

Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on October 20, 2011, alleging that he is being held in custody unlawfully for the following reasons:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel;
  - a. Failure to object
  - b. Failure to move to limit witness testimony
  - c. Failure to investigate
  - d. Failure to present additional witness testimony at trial
  - e. Failure to properly cross-examine
2. Perjured testimony in violation of the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution; and
3. Wrongly admitted prejudicial testimony in violation of the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and State v. Golf 525 S.E.2d 246 (S.C. 2000).

Respondent made its Return on May 11, 2012. An evidentiary hearing was convened on April 14, 2015, at the Sumter County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and proceeded *pro se* after relieving counsel Fulton Casey D. Cornwell, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Daniel Gourley of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented Respondent. At the

evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Also testifying was Trial Counsel Willie Brunson, Esquire. The PCR Court had before it the records of the Sumter County Clerk of Court, the direct appeal records, Petitioner's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, the application, the Return, and the trial transcript. The Honorable George C. James, Jr., issued an Order of Dismissal signed October 11, 2016 and filed October 24, 2016, denying the application but granting a belated review of direct appeal issues pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 11, 2016. Petitioner's Appendix, Petition for Writ of Certiorari, and Anders Brief of Appellant Pursuant to White v. State were filed on September 18, 2017. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and conclusions of law receive great deference during appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler, supra. Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, (1984); Butler, supra.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler, supra. The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, supra. Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that,

but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different."

Cherry, at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court properly granted Petitioner a belated review of direct appeal issues pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where the evidence showed that although trial counsel filed and served a notice of appeal at Petitioner's request, he failed to do so in a timely manner as required by Rule 203(b)(2), SCACR.**

Respondent agrees with Petitioner's assertion that he is entitled to a belated review of direct appeal issues. The record indicates Trial Counsel did not file the notice of appeal in a timely manner as required by the appellate court rules. The PCR court found Petitioner's testimony that he told Trial Counsel he wanted to file an appeal was credible. Respondent does not oppose this finding on appeal.

**II. The PCR Court properly found Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admission of Petitioner's prior conviction for impeachment where there is no prejudice because Petitioner did not testify at trial and the prior conviction was not admitted.**

609(a)(1)

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admissibility of Petitioner's prior conviction and argue that the conviction was more prejudicial than probative. Petitioner claims that, if Trial Counsel had made this argument, the prior conviction would not have been admissible, and Petitioner would have testified at trial, which may have changed the outcome of the trial. However, probative evidence supports the PCR court's ruling that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to make this argument because there is no prejudice where Petitioner did not testify at trial and the prior conviction was not admitted to impeach him.

Under Rule 609(a)(1) SCRE, prior convictions punishable by more than one year imprisonment are admissible for impeaching the credibility of a defendant who testifies at trial when "the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial value to the accused." Our Supreme Court has adopted a five-factor analysis for weighing the probative value for impeachment of prior convictions against the prejudice to the accused. State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000). The following factors, along with any other relevant factors, should be considered by the trial court: (1) the impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) the point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3) the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) the importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5) the centrality of the credibility issue. Id.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, whose decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Swafford, 375 S.C.

637, 640, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct.App.2007) (citation omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).<sup>1</sup> To warrant reversal based on the admission of evidence, the complaining party must prove both the error of the ruling *and the resulting prejudice*. State v. Howard, 396 S.C. 173, 177–78, 720 S.E.2d 511, 514 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc., 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375 (2005)) (emphasis added).

In the present case, Petitioner was on trial for second degree burglary for entering a business at night with the intent to steal items from within. Petitioner had a prior conviction for first degree burglary and had been released from prison on this charge within ten years of the current trial. During the trial, Trial Counsel testified that he argued to the judge in chambers that the admission of the prior conviction was more prejudicial than probative because of its similarity to the current charge. App. 626-27. After the discussion, following a lunch break, the trial judge announced his ruling on the record that he would allow the prior conviction to be used for impeachment if Petitioner decided to testify at trial. App. 379. As the PCR noted in its Order of Dismissal, the trial court employed the five-factor balancing test enunciated in Colf, and “despite the fact that [Petitioner] was on trial for burglary, determined the prior burglary conviction would be admitted if [Petitioner] testified, presumably finding that the probative value of the conviction outweighed its prejudicial effect to [Petitioner].” App. 667. The record does not indicate that Trial Counsel objected to the judge’s ruling at that time. Petitioner did not testify at trial, and because he did not testify, the prior conviction was not admitted to impeach him.

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent also notes that the trial court’s ruling that the prior conviction was admissible would very likely be upheld on appeal, had it been appealed, as Petitioner has shown no abuse of discretion, and the trial court covered the majority of the analysis of the Colf factors on the record at trial.

Although Trial Counsel opined at the PCR hearing that he “probably should have had the argument that we had in chambers again on the record to preserve the issue,” App. 627, the PCR court held that Petitioner could show no prejudice from the judge’s ruling because he did not testify at trial, so the prior conviction was not used against him. App. 668. The PCR court explained that “[Petitioner] must show prejudice; absent his trial testimony and the introduction of the burglary conviction to impeach his credibility, there is no showing of prejudice stemming from Trial Counsel’s failure to argue [against the admission of the prior conviction]”. App. 668. The PCR court properly relied on State v. Glenn, 285 S.C. 384, 330 S.E.2d 285 (1985) to support its ruling. Glenn held that “when the trial judge chooses to make a preliminary ruling on the admissibility of prior convictions to impeach a defendant and the defendant does not testify at trial, the claim of improper impeachment is not preserved for review.” Glenn at 385, 330 S.E.2d at 286.

Furthermore, even if Trial Counsel had objected to the admission of the prior conviction on the record, it is unlikely the trial judge would have accepted his argument and changed his ruling, as the testimony from the evidentiary hearing shows the issue was thoroughly argued in chambers, and the judge chose to rule that it was admissible. Additionally, even if Trial Counsel had objected on the record simply to preserve the issue for appellate review, the issue could not have been successful on direct appeal, either. As mentioned above, Glenn holds this issue is not preserved for appellate review where the defendant does not testify at trial. Finally, even if it were properly preserved for appellate review, Petitioner could still show no prejudice, as required by Howard and the preceding case law, because the prior conviction was not used to impeach him.

Another reason Petitioner cannot prove prejudice is the fact that he did not testify at the evidentiary hearing as to what his trial testimony would have been had he not “involuntarily waived” his right to testify. South Carolina Post-Conviction Relief case law requires an applicant to present the testimony of a favorable witness at the evidentiary hearing in order to prove prejudice resulting from that witness’s failure to testify at trial. See Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (holding that in order to support a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview or call potential alibi witnesses, a PCR applicant must produce the witnesses at the PCR hearing or otherwise introduce the witnesses' testimony in a manner consistent with the rules of evidence; the applicant’s mere speculation about what the witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice.)

Although Petitioner at the evidentiary hearing touched on the subject of what his testimony at trial would have been, he did not present the exact testimony he would have given if he had taken the stand at trial. Petitioner explained:

But that's, you know, that's something that I felt, you know, the judge should have ruled also that there was no prejudicial than probative. And as a result, I involuntarily waived my right to testify, you know, and explain that Culick had staged a crime scene, that Mr. McDonald had lied about me wanting to or seen blue lights flashing.

App. 577, line 7-13. Petitioner explained that he wanted to tell the jury about the errors in investigation and that the witnesses were lying, but he does not describe how he would have testified to do so. Without his exact testimony, the courts cannot speculate as to what he would have said had he testified at trial and what effect his testimony may have had on the jury or on the outcome of the case.

609(b)

Petitioner further argues the PCR court erred in ruling Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the calculation of his maxout date from prison for the sentence from his prior conviction. This argument is meritless, and was discussed and deemed meritless by both the trial judge and the PCR judge. App. 372-374; App. 533-534.

Rule 609(b) provides that evidence of a prior conviction to impeach a defendant “is not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction *or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction*, whichever is the later date, unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect” 609(b) SCRE (emphasis added). Petitioner argues that he was not given credit he was entitled to for time served on his prior 2002 conviction, and if he had been given the proper credit, his maxout date would have been corrected, and the prior conviction would no longer fall within ten years of the current trial. He argues that if Trial Counsel had “explored the credit for time served issue, the prior conviction could have been excluded.” PWC 8.

Trial Counsel cannot be deficient for failing to “explore” this issue, as he did not represent Petitioner on the 2002 charge and had no ability to change or recalculate a sentence Petitioner had already served on a prior charge. More importantly, even if the records of his maxout date had been changed, it does not change the fact that Petitioner was released from prison on that charge within ten years of the current trial. The record before the Court supports this fact—Petitioner testified he was released from prison within ten years of the trial. App. 574. According to 609(b), because he was released from confinement for that conviction within ten

years of the trial, there was no issue of remoteness and the conviction was not excluded from being admitted under 609(a) SCRE.

The PCR court also extended its prejudice analysis to this allegation and ruled there was no prejudice for choosing not to investigate this issue, again because Petitioner did not testify at trial, and the prior conviction was not used to impeach him. App. 668 (“This Court can see no reason not to extend the rationale in Glenn to a PCR setting because the fact remains that Applicant must show prejudice; absent his trial testimony and the introduction of the burglary conviction to impeach his credibility, there is no showing of prejudice stemming from Trial Counsel’s failure to argue the prior conviction was too remote in time to be introduced.”).

Respondent asserts the PCR court’s ruling are proper under South Carolina law and are supported by the record before the Court and the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing. Because probative evidence supports the PCR court’s rulings, and because the rulings are correct as a matter of law, this Court should affirm the lower court’s ruling and deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.